RECEIVED

FEB 22 2024

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In The Court of Appeals

Appeal From The Administrative Law Court, Crystal M. Rookard,
Administrative Law Judge

DARRELL L. GOSS,

Appellant,

v.

SOUTH CAROLINA DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS,

Respondent .

Appellate Case No. 2023-001546

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

DARRELL L. GOSS # 305517

Evans Correctional Institution

610 Highway 9 West

Bennettsville, SC 29512

PRO SE APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the ALC err in affirming SCDC's calculation of Appellant's prison sentence and determination of his projected release date that exceeds the statutory requirement of eighty-five percent ?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 15, 2007, Darrell L. Goss ("Goss") was arrested and charged in connection with a robbery at a clothing store in North Charleston. He was held in the Charleston County Detention Center until his trial on February 23-26, 2009, where he was convicted. At sentencing, the judge sentenced Goss to twenty (20) years imprisonment, giving him credit for the time spent in the county jail. Goss was transferred to the South Carolina Department of Corrections ("SCDC") on March 3, 2009 where he began serving his sentence.

On February 1, 2022, Goss submitted a Kiosk request to Classification stating that his maxout date of September 13, 2025 was incorrect. He stated his maxout date should be June 15, 2024. Goss further allege that his earned work and good behavior credits weren't properly applied to his sentence. On March 2, 2022, Classification responded to Goss's request stating "your maxout date was never June 2024". Goss then filed a step 1 grievance reiterating his claims on March 7, 2022. On March 22, 2022, the Warden responded stating that Goss was receiving his work credits, but not good time credits because he is serving a 85% sentence and had to complete a mandatory 17 years before he could be released. Goss filed a step 2 grievance on March 24, 2022 clarifying that June 15, 2024 would be 17 years of his sentence but his maxout date was September 13, 2025. On April 26, 2022, SCDC rendered its final decision stating that Goss was receiving his

work and good time credits but that " there is no evidence and/or documentation indicating that your maxout date was previously schedule for June 2024". SCDC further stated that due to 39 disciplinary convictions, Goss is serving more than 17 years because of the loss of good time and work credits .

On May 9, 2022, Goss filed a notice of appeal with the Administrative Law Court ("ALC"). The case was assigned on May 19, 2022. On September 9, 2022, SCDC filed a motion to dismiss. On September 13, 2022, Goss filed a response in opposition of the motion to dismiss. On September 28, 2022, the ALC denied SCDC's motion to dismiss and granted Goss's motion to reconsider. SCDC subsequently filed a motion to supplement the record with a copy of Goss's good time restore history screen which the court granted on September 28, 2022. Goss filed his brief on October 11, 2022. On October 11, 2022, Goss also filed a motion to supplement the record to include his certificates of completion of programs. SCDC filed its brief on November 28, 2022. Goss did not file a reply.

The case was re-assigned on July 7, 2023. On July 20, 2023, the ALC in a written letter to SCDC, stated " Initially, the Record shows Appellant's max out date as September 13, 2023. How did SCDC arrive at the max out date October 15, 2025? The Department's brief does not explain this change ". On August 17, 2023, SCDC responded to the ALC's letter correcting the ALC's statement of Goss's max out date from September 13, 2023 to September 13, 2025, and explained that that date was adjusted to

October 15, 2024 once an "error" was found. SCDC further explained that "since the filing of the briefs, Appellant's projected maxout date has adjusted again due to changes in Appellant's rate of earned work credits. Appellant's maxout date is now July 15, 2024". On September 15, 2023, the ALC issued an order finding substantial evidence supporting SCDC's calculation of Goss's sentence and determination of his projected release date of October 15, 2024.

This appeal timely follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In an appeal of the final decision of an administrative agency, the standard of appellate review is whether the ALC's findings are supported by substantial evidence. Sanders v. S.C. Dep't of Corr., 379 S.C. 411, 417, 665 S.E.2d 231, 234 (Ct. App. 2008). Although the appellate court shall not substitute its judgment for that of the ALC as to findings of fact, it may reverse or modify decisions that are controlled by error of law or are clearly erroneous in view of the substantial evidence on the record as a whole. In determining whether the ALC's decision was supported by substantial evidence, the appellate court need only find, considering the record as a whole, evidence from which reasonable minds could reach the same conclusion that the ALC reached. Id. This court's review of the ALC's order must be confined to the record provided on appeal. S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610 (B) (Supp. 2019). Furthermore, the burden is on appellants to prove convincingly that the agency's decision is unsupported by the evidence. Waters v. S.C. Land Res. Conservation Comm'n, 321 S.C. 219, 226, 467 S.E.2d 913, 917 (1996).

ARGUMENT

The ALC err in affirming SCDC's calculation of Appellant's prison sentence and determination of his projected release date that exceeds the statutory requirement of eighty-five percent.

Appellant was sentenced to twenty (20) years in prison for armed robbery, kidnapping, and assault and battery with intent to kill. His sentence began running June 15, 2007. Under state law, Appellant is required to serve 85 percent of his sentence in prison, and then he release to the Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services (DPPPS) where Appellant must complete two (2) years in the community supervision program (CSP). S.C. Code § 24-13-150 (A), § 24-21-560 (A), (B). SCDC must notify the DPPPS of Appellant's "projected release date" six (6) months in advance of his release to the CSP. S.C. Code § 24-21-560 (F). Thus, SCDC is task with the responsibility of properly calculating Appellant's sentence, or else, he risk an extended period of incarceration beyond that which is required by law.

Such is the case here.

S.C. Code § 24-13-150 provides, in pertinent part :

(A) An inmate convicted of a "no parole offense" . . . is not

eligible for early release, discharge, or community supervision as provided in Section 24-21-560, until the inmate has served at least eighty-five percent of the actual term of imprisonment imposed. This percentage must be calculated without the application of earned work credits, education credits, or good conduct credits, and is to be applied to the actual term of imprisonment imposed, not including any portion of the sentence which has been suspended.

S.C. Code § 24-21-560 provides, in pertinent parts :

(A) Any sentence for a "no parole offense" . . . must include any term of incarceration and completion of a community supervision program operated by the Department of Probation, Parole, and Pardon Services. No prisoner who is serving a sentence for a "no parole offense" is eligible to participate in a community supervision program until he has served the minimum period of incarceration as set forth in Section 24-13-150.

(F) The Department of Corrections must notify the Department of Probation, Parole, and Pardon Services of the projected release date of any inmate serving a sentence for a "no parole offense" one hundred eighty days in advance of his

release to community supervision .

Appellant's convictions for armed robbery, kidnapping, and assault and battery with intent to kill, are no-parole offenses . S.C. Code § 24-13-100 . Therefore, Appellant must serve 85% of his sentence before he is eligible for "early release, discharge, or community supervision" . Bolin v. S.C. Dept. of Corrections, 415 S.C. 376, 781 S.E.2d 914 (2016) . Eighty-five percent of 20 years is 17 years . Seventeen years from June 15, 2007 would be June 15, 2024 . The ALC correctly found this date to be Appellant's "earliest possible release date" . However, she erred in finding that the loss of good-time credits resulted in SCDC recalculating Appellant's maxout date to October 15, 2024 . App. p. 47-48, Order .

As a matter of first impression, Appellant point out to the Court that SCDC has erroneously recalculated his release date on at least four separate occasions . First, SCDC had Appellant's maxout date set at January 11, 2026 (i.e., 93% of his sentence) . Second, it had his maxout date at September 12, 2025 (91% of his sentence) . Third, it had Appellant's maxout at October 15, 2024 (87% of his sentence) . And fourth, it currently has Appellant's maxout date set for July 15, 2024 (86% of his sentence) . App. p. 32-35, SCDC's Response to Court's Inquiry ; App. p. 46, fn. 1, Order . Notably, SCDC has never correctly calculated Appellant's release date at June 15, 2024 (85% of his sentence) . see, App. p. 2, Inmate Request ("your maxout date was never June 2024") ; and App. p. 5, Step 2 Grievance ("Be advised that there is no evidence and/or documentation

indicating that your maxout date was previously scheduled for June 2024").

Appellant contends the ALC erred by allowing SCDC to extend his sentence beyond the statutory requirement of 85 percent. SCDC did so by *negatively* applying (deducting) Appellant's good-time credits, which violates the statutory mandate that the percentage "must be calculated *without* the application of earned work credits, education credits, or good conduct credits, and is to be applied to the actual term of imprisonment imposed". *Id.* Appellant maintain that the calculation of his 85% period of incarceration must not include any *application* of credits, whether positive or negative — i.e., to increase or decrease Appellant's sentence. Sampson v. Ozmint, 2009 WL 1834373 (D.S.C.) (Plaintiff claim he was only required to serve eighty-five percent of his sentence, such that the granting or taking away of good time or work credits would not effect his release date).

To be sure, S.C. Code § 24-13-210 which governs the application of good-time credits, provides, in pertinent parts :

(E) Any person who has served the term of imprisonment for which he has been sentenced less deductions allowed for good conduct is considered upon release to have served the entire term for which he was sentenced unless the person is required to complete a community supervision program pursuant to Section 24-21-560. If the person is required to complete a community

supervision program, he must complete his sentence as provided in Section 24-21-560 prior to discharge from the criminal justice system.

(F) No credits earned pursuant to this Section may be applied in a manner which would prevent full participation in the Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services' prerelease or community supervision program as provided in Section 24-21-560.

Appellant submits the plain language of § 24-13-210(F) provide that no good-time credits can be applied to prevent him from being release to community supervision after Appellant has served his 85% period of confinement. State v. Grissett, 2024 WL 463620 (February 7, 2024) (When the language of a statute is plain, unambiguous, and conveys a clear and definite meaning, the rules of statutory construction are unnecessary, and a court has no right to impose another meaning.) (citing, Hodges v. Rainey, 341 S.C. 79, 85, 533 S.E.2d 578, 581 (2000)).

Appellant assert that his substantive due process rights were violated by the increase of his prison sentence. Hawkins v. Freeman, 195 F.3d 732 (4th Cir. 1999). Appellant has a liberty interest in his **mandatory** release from prison to the community supervision program after serving 85% of his sentence. And SCDC arbitrarily deprived Appellant of that interest by extending his period of incarceration beyond eighty-five percent. SCDC's

action amounts to an abuse of power or power employed as an instrument of oppression. Id.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, this Court should reverse the judgment of the ALC.