STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

Administrative Law Judge Crystal M. Rookard

ALC Case No. 22-ALJ-04-0141-AP
Appellate Case No. 2023-001546

DARRELL L. GOSS, # 305517,

APPELLANT,

v.

SOUTH CAROLINA DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS,

RESPONDENT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

**SOUTH CAROLINA DEPARTMENT
OF CORRECTIONS**

Christina Catoe Bigelow
Deputy General Counsel
Office of General Counsel
South Carolina Dept. of Corrections
Post Office Box 21787
Columbia, South Carolina 29221
(803) 896-8508

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

APR 18 2024

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT PROPERLY CONCLUDED THAT THE DEPARTMENT IS CORRECTLY CALCULATING APPELLANT'S EIGHTY-FIVE PERCENT NO-PAROLE SENTENCES WHERE THE STATUTE SAYS THAT 85% OFFENDERS MUST SERVE "AT LEAST" EIGHTY-FIVE PERCENT.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter comes before this Court pursuant to the appeal of Darrell Lee Goss (Appellant), an inmate in the custody of the South Carolina Department of Corrections (SCDC). On March 7, 2022, Appellant filed a Step 1 Grievance arguing that his maxout date was incorrect. This grievance was investigated and denied. On March 24, 2022, Appellant filed a Step 2 Grievance, which was also investigated and denied. On May 9, 2022, Appellant filed a Notice of Appeal in the Administrative Law Court (ALC). On September 15, 2023, Judge Crystal M. Rookard issued an Order affirming the Department's calculation of Appellant's sentences. This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610(B) provides the applicable standard of review:

The review of the administrative law judge's order must be confined to the record. The reviewing tribunal may affirm the decision or remand the case for further proceedings; or it may reverse or modify the decision if the substantive rights of the petitioner have been prejudiced because the finding, conclusion, or decision is:

- (a) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions;
- (b) in excess of the statutory authority of the agency;
- (c) made upon unlawful procedure;
- (d) affected by other error of law;
- (e) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative and substantial evidence on the whole record; or
- (f) arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.

In an appeal of a final decision of an administrative agency, the standard of appellate review is whether the ALC's findings are supported by substantial evidence. S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-610(B). "Substantial evidence" is evidence which, considering the record as a whole, would allow a reasonable mind to reach the same conclusion that administrative agency reached. Hendley v. S.C. State Budget & Control Bd., 325 S.C. 413, 481 S.E.2d 159 (Ct. App. 1996). A reviewing court shall not substitute its own judgment for that of the ALC as to findings of fact, but it may reverse or modify decisions that are controlled by errors of law or that are clearly erroneous in view of the substantial evidence on the record as a whole. Id.

ARGUMENT

THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT PROPERLY CONCLUDED THAT THE DEPARTMENT IS CORRECTLY CALCULATING APPELLANT'S EIGHTY-FIVE PERCENT NO-PAROLE SENTENCES WHERE THE STATUTE SAYS THAT 85% OFFENDERS MUST SERVE "AT LEAST" EIGHTY-FIVE PERCENT.

Background

There are statutes that require day-for-day service of sentences. See, e.g., S.C. Code § 16-3-20(A). There are statutes that require a mandatory minimum amount of time to be served on a sentence. See, e.g., S.C. Code § 16-11-330(A). There are statutes that require service of a life without parole sentence. See, e.g., S.C. Code § 17-25-45. There are statutes that require service of "at least 85%" before eligibility for release. See S.C. Code § 24-13-100 and -150. However, there are no statutes that require service of any less than 100% of a sentence. An inmate should expect to serve 100% of any sentence he or she receives because there is no statutory mechanism by which a sentence is **automatically** reduced. Although work and earned education credits are permitted by statute, they are not mandated - they must be earned. See S.C. Code 24-13-230(A) (stating that SCDC "may" allow a non-85% inmate a reduction in the term of his sentence of zero to one day for every two days he is assigned to a productive duty assignment or regularly enrolled in academic, technical, or vocational program); see also S.C. Code 24-13-230(B)(stating that SCDC "may" allow an 85% inmate a reduction in the term of his sentence of six days for every month he is assigned to a productive duty assignment or regularly enrolled in academic, technical, or vocational program).

Significantly, section (B) also states as follows: "**No prisoner convicted of a "no parole offense" is entitled to a reduction below the minimum term of imprisonment provided in Section 24-13-125 or 24-13-150.**" S.C. Code 24-13-210(B)(emphasis added). Of course, as mentioned above, the minimum term provided in S.C. Code 24-13-150 is "at least eighty-five

percent.” S.C. Code 24-13-150.

Similarly, although good time credits are also permitted by statute, they are dependent on an inmate’s behavior. See S.C. Code 24-13-210(A) (stating that non-85% inmates are entitled to a deduction of twenty days per month served if his record of conduct shows that he has faithfully observed all the rules of the institution where he is confined and has not been subjected to punishment for misbehavior); see also S.C. Code 24-13-210(B) (stating that 85% inmates are entitled to a deduction of three days per month served if his record of conduct shows that he has faithfully observed all the rules of the institution where he is confined and has not been subjected to punishment for misbehavior).

Like the work credit statute discussed above, section (B) of the good time statute also states as follows: **“No prisoner convicted of a “no parole offense” is entitled to a reduction below the minimum term of imprisonment provided in Section 24-13-125 or 24-13-150.”** S.C. Code 24-13-210(B)(emphasis added). S.C. Code 24-13-150. Again, the minimum term provided in S.C. Code 24-13-150 is “at least eighty-five percent.” S.C. Code 24-13-150.

A max-out date is originally calculated with the assumption that an inmate will earn the full amount of good time credits and a certain amount of work credits, depending upon the type of offense. When an inmate fails to earn the initially projected amount of credit, or loses credit due to disciplinary infractions, the inmate’s max-out date changes accordingly. By the same token, the inmate’s max-out date can change to an earlier date if an inmate earns more work credits and/or education credits than originally calculated. Max-out dates can change multiple times throughout an inmate’s stay due to disciplinary convictions, changing jobs, quitting a job, earning bonus education credits, etc. For 85% offenders, SCDC initially projects that the offender will earn the maximum amount of good time permitted by law (three days per month) and the maximum amount of work and

education credits permitted by law (six days per month). If an 85% offender loses good time credit due to his behavior or fails to work a consistent job or changes jobs frequently, this will impact his max-out date, and he will serve more than 85% of his sentence.

Appellant's 85% Sentences

In this case, it is undisputed that Appellant's sentences are 85%, no-parole offenses. However, Appellant incorrectly argues that there is a "statutory requirement" that he serve **only** 85% of his sentence. In fact, as mentioned above, what the statute actually says is, in relevant part, as follows:

(A) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, except in a case in which the death penalty or a term of life imprisonment is imposed, an inmate convicted of a "no parole offense" as defined in Section 24-13-100 and sentenced to the custody of the Department of Corrections, including an inmate serving time in a local facility pursuant to a designated facility agreement authorized by Section 24-3-20 or Section 24-3-30, is not eligible for early release, discharge, or community supervision as provided in Section 24-21-560, **until the inmate has served at least eighty-five percent of the actual term of imprisonment imposed.** This percentage must be calculated without the application of earned work credits, education credits, or good conduct credits, and is to be applied to the actual term of imprisonment imposed, not including any portion of the sentence which has been suspended.

S.C. Code § 24-13-150(A) (emphasis added).

As explained by the lower court, Appellant must serve at least 85% of his twenty-year sentences. (See R. p. 47). 85% of twenty years is seventeen years. With a start date of June 15, 2007 (date of sentencing minus jail time credit), the earliest Appellant could be released (i.e., at **exactly** 85% service) would be June 15, 2024. (See R. p. 47). However, Appellant has acquired numerous disciplinary convictions in his time with SCDC. (R. p. 47-48). As a result, he forfeited the credit he would have earned each month he had an infraction (three days per month, per statute),

and he also had good time taken away as punishment for some of the offenses. (See R. p. 47-48; see R. p. 18-21; see also SCDC Policy OP-22.14, Section 17.2, found at <https://www.doc.sc.gov/sites/doc/files/Documents/policy/OP-22-14.pdf> (stating that loss of accrued good time may be imposed in varying amounts depending upon the level of the infraction and that a finding of guilt as a result of a disciplinary hearing will result in the inmate's failure to earn good time for the month in which the disciplinary offense occurred). Appellant has also had breaks in his work history, which means he was not earning credits during the time frames he was not working. (See R. p. 16-17).

Accordingly, due to Appellant's loss of credits – again, which are used to reduce the service time from 100% to at least 85% - he is serving slightly more than 85% of his sentence.¹ Contrary to his argument, this does not violate S.C. Code 24-13-150 because this statute says he must serve “at least” 85% of the sentence. Accordingly, this Court should affirm the ALC's conclusion that Appellant failed to establish any error in the Department's calculation of his sentences.

¹ As pointed out in Appellant's Brief at page 9, Appellant's current maxout date is July 15, 2024. He had good time credit restored under SCDC's Good Time Restoration Policy. (See ALC Order, p. 48)

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should affirm the Administrative Law Court's decision below.